2017

**Kathy Engle, Petitioner/Appellant v. Wende M. Throne,
Respondent Judy Engle, Petitioner Eldean Roy Engle, Petitioner
Britta Lynn Wilcken, Petitioner Alexa Thayer, Petitioner and Bullock
Law Firm, Former Counsel To the Estate Appellees : Brief of
Appellant**

Utah Court of Appeals

Jurisdictional Statement

The Court of Appeals has jurisdiction over this case pursuant to the Order entered on February 12, 2018 by the Utah Court of Appeals and pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §78A-4-103(2)(j). March 22, 2018, the Court Ordered the Brief deadline is April 2, 2018.

Introduction

The probate case involved the Probate with the District Court's ("D.Court") approved of a "Settlement" Agreement of the Estate of Homer Engle ("Estate"). The Decedent had three adult children and he passed away on November 21, 2010. "Wende" Throne is the daughter of "Judy" Engle. Wende is both the Special Administrator ("SA") of the Estate and Trustee of Homer Engle 2010 Trust ("Trust"). Wende and her two daughters, Britta Wilcken and Alexa Thayer are the beneficiaries of the Trust.

The main focus of the disputes was the ownership interest and record title owner of nine real properties, including 3 twenty acre Lots.

The disputes occurred when Homer Engle transferred numerous invalid quick claim deeds into his Trust, when he did not have record title at the time he transferred the deeds on or about February 3, 2010.

Ms. "Kreeck" prepared and recorded these deeds and was fully aware Homer Engle did not have record title to the properties and she was fully aware Homer Engle could not claim 100% ownership to the nine properties listed in the Will she filed with the Probate on November 23, 2010.

After acquired title does not apply to a conveyance by
quitclaim deed. Utah Code Ann. §57-1-10(1)(2)

Additionally, there were disputes of Homer's medical capacity where he was not in sound mind to execute documents. The Decedent's medical records, documented in 2010, were explicit in diagnosing the Decedent's medical condition. The diagnoses included mobility's such as renal failure, along with memory deficiency for dementia, sun downing, several heart surgeries and other serious medical conditions. Counsel Kreeck, had full access to the Decedent's medical records when Wende delivered documents to Homer Engle to execute on November 5, 2010. Homer Engle signed his Will and the Bullock Law Firm's \$44,594.00 Trust Deed. The Trust Deeds were recorded on both the Crystal and State Street properties creating wrongful liens. The Trust Deed was nullified with Crystal trial ruling. Also, there were defective notary acknowledgements which notary was the Bullock Law Firm's in house para legal / notary. To further complicate the disputes, Counsel Kreeck on behalf of Wende filed Temporary Restraining Orders ("TRO's") [R11512 and R.11523] on the Decedent's three adult children, which was two days after his death. As stated in the TRO, Ms. Kreeck acknowledged the Decedent was not the record title owner of these properties. This most certainly was contrary to the Decedent's Will and the Trust language.

These improper invalid quitclaim deeds / transactions set the stage for legal wrangling between creditors, the parties and attorneys for over seven years. To curtail the overwhelming ligation costs for escalating attorney fees with an equitable resolve to

the real property disputes and claims between the Estate, the Special Administrator, the Trust, Wende, individually and the Decedent's adult children agreed to a "*Settlement Agreement approved by the D.Court September 3, 2013*". November 14, 2013, shortly after the Creditor's hearing, the Settlement agreement was finalized with final approval by the D.Court which was binding on all the parties. *Settlement included all persons in the world who had any interest in the probate.*

Disputes occurred with inconsistent Orders and the trial Court's interpretation and resolution of Settlement terms regarding ambiguous conflicting clauses and conflicting probate laws and other statutes inferior to the Settlement terms. The Settlement was the governing statute. [R.11314] [R.11329 ¶22-23] The Trial Court could only rule to carry out the terms of the Settlement Agreement. The Court agreed the Settlement "squarely meets" the standard of Utah Code Ann. §75-3-1102(3) [R.11336¶13-15]

There are disputes with the D.Court's Orders to pay the Special Administrator's legal fees including a dual representation (conflict of interest). There are disputes with closing out the Estate without a correct accounting for the Estate's funds, accounting and assets not fully disclosed by the Special Administrator.

Other disputes will be identified in the Statement of Issues.

Appellant believes these disputes are a matter of law involving due process, fair and equal rights, the U.S. Constitution 14th Amendment, contract law and the manner in which the Trial Court interfered with the contract terms and suppression of evidence.

Appellant believes the Appeal will prevail which is most favorable of the Appellant.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Issue 1: November 14, 2014, the District Court gave final approval of the Settlement Agreement, a compromise governed by Utah Code §75-3-1101 which is *binding on all the parties thereto* and governed by Utah Code §75-3-1102(3), whereas, *all further disposition of the estate is in accordance with the term of the agreement.*

The question is, did the District Court's err with its ruling in carrying out the terms of Settlement? Whether its ruling conflicted with other statutes? Whether its ruling violated any constitutional laws, both the State and U.S. Constitution, 14th Amendment, due process for fair and equal treatment?

Whether there was an abuse of discretion?

Issue 2: The District Court granted quiet title on the remaining property distributions as stated in the April 12, 2017 Order to close out the Estate. [R.8421 ¶2] [Add. E] However, It has been over 18 months, since the Payson and Price sold whereas, the recordation and proper distribution for these properties have not occurred without defeats.

Did the District Court err in not provide individual quiet title orders and timely distributions to the Judy and Kathy for the Woods Cross, the Cherokee Properties and the lots for 1/6 and 5/6 interest to Judy and Kathy respectfully?

Did the District Court err when it allowed the Special Administrator (SA), Wende to deliberately hinder a timely and effective transfer of these properties to Judy and Kathy free of defects allowing proper recordation of the quiet title orders and the Executor Special Warranty Deeds, when distribution of these property should have occurred after the sale of the Payson and Price Properties? *1 [R.14225 Title ¶3] [Add H]. Both these properties should have transferred with a Quiet Title Order.

Issue 3(a): Did the District Court resolve ambiguities within the Settlement according to the intent of the parties “most consistent” with the terms of Settlement (on p.10 Title) [R.14225 ¶ 1] [Add H] regarding the Hi-Country judgments and HOA fees which would prevent the District Court from granting an order in quiet title on each of the 3 lots to Judy for 1/6 interest and to Kathy for 5/6 interest?

Whether the District Court’s ruling in the Finding of Facts compromised a quiet title order on the property distribution? [R.8392 ¶ 6] [R.8393 ¶ 14] and

Issue 3(b): Did the District Court err to encumber the Cherokee Property with an attorney lien, which property Judy should have received free and clear of any claims of the Estate or any other Party? [R.14225 ¶ 3] [Add.H]

Issue 4: Did the District Court err when it denied payment on Kathy’s Priority 1 Claim when there were sufficient funds to pay the balance owing of \$11,759.36? [R.8382 ¶ 9a.] [Add.F]

*1 The Price Property sold 2/4/205 [R.8382 ¶ b.]. [See Add F]. The Payson Property sold 9/29/2016 [R.5455] Both properties transferred with a Quiet Title Order

Did the District Court err when it denied \$3,075.75, the appraised value of Coins, to be applied as a partial payment on Kathy's \$11,759.36 claim?

Did the District Court interfere with the Meet and Confer Order to convey tangibles in full or partial satisfaction of Kathy's claim, which was directed to be paid under the September 3, 2013 Settlement? [R.14286 ¶ 8] [Add. J]

Did the District Court abuse its discretion and violated Kathy's due process for fair and equal treatment?

Issue 5: Whether, the District Court erred when it ruled Kathy's Objection to Settlement was untimely?

Issue 6: Whether, the District Court erred when it paid \$115,454.25 to YHG's for improper legal fees which included \$60,315.25 pursuant to Utah Code §75-3-805(b), rather than a Priority 2 claim stated in Settlement in the Finding of Facts to close out the Estate?

Whether, YHG's actions were appropriate under the Rules of Professional Standards?

Did the District Court err when it by-passed Kathy's superior claim, at the discretion of District Court to override the Settlement in order to pay YHG's legal fees in full satisfaction?

Did the District Court use conflicting statutes with the terms of Settlement in its payment to YHG. whereas, the District Court's authority comes from the statute governing compromises, pursuant to Utah Code §75-3-1102(3): the court can only rule

to carry out the terms of Settlement?

Did the Special Administrator's Counsel violate Rules of Professional Standards?

Did the Special Administrator's Counsel commit fraud upon the Court and in conjunction with the SA?

Issue 7: Did the District Court err to allow a disobedient Special Administrator to be grossly negligent in her duties in protecting and preserving the Estate's assets to include (but not limited): to timely execute deeds without defeats for recordation for proper distributions, of the real properties to Judy and Kathy; to provide a proper accounting according to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP); to disclose all rental income; to properly disclose and account for the Rental Plus assets, which the Decedent's held a 20% interest; to pay legal fees which was for her personal benefit; to comply with District Court Orders; to provide Hi-Documents to Judy and Kathy; to waste Estate's assets on hard money loans to pay for property taxes, excessive legal fees, and other expenses which were preventable?

Was the District Court derelict in his duties to allow the Special Administrator for all of the above and for not taking action to limit the Special Administrator's duties with supervision from the D.Court?

Standard of Review: If clearly erroneous under the circumstances of the Case *Anesthesiologists Assoc., v. St. Benedict's*, 852 P.2d 1030, 1040 (Utah App. 1993). De Novo, Abuse of Discretion is the standard of review.

Conclusion of law are reviewed de novo, without deference to the decision of the trial Court. In re Adoption of Baby 2012 UT 35, ¶ 41, 308 P.3d 382, (No deference is given to the lower court's analysis of abstract legal questions). My review of conclusions of law is accordingly de novo.

Standard of Review: Calculation of reasonable attorney fees is in the sound discretion of the trial court, and will not be overturned in the absence of a showing of a clear abuse of discretion, *Moore v. Smith*, 2007 UT App 101, ¶ 53, 158 P.3d 562 (quoting *Dixie State Bank v. Bracken*, 764 P.2d 985, 988 (Utah 1988)), while the question of “Whether a party is entitled to an award of attorney fees is a legal conclusion... a Review for correctness, *IHC Health Servs. v. D & K Mgmt., Inc.*, 2008 UT 73, ¶ 38, 196 P.3d 588; see also *Meadowbrook, LLC v. Flower*, 959 P.2d 115, 116 (Utah 1998) (“We review a trial courts conclusions of law [regarding attorney fees] for correctness, granting no deference to the trial judge's legal determinations.

Rule 23(b)(6) is a question of law that we review for correctness.” *Mackey v. Cannon*, 2000 UT pp 36, ¶ 9, 996 P.2d 1081

Standard of Review This case is subject to constitutional and statutory restraints regarding due process. This Court should employ “a correctness standard, which incorporates a clearly erroneous standard for the review of subsidiary factual determinations.” *State v. Guzman*, 95 P.3d 302, 306 aff'd, 2006 UT 12, 133 P.3d 363. “We review a trial court's exercise of its contempt power to determine whether it exceeded the scope of its lawful discretion,” *Shipman v. Evans*, 2004 UT 44, ¶ 39, 100

P.3d 1151, which “is subject to constitutional and statutory restraints regarding [due process],” *Chen v. Stewart*, 2005 UT 68, ¶ 36, 123 P.3d 416 (internal quotation marks omitted). *Gardiner v. York*, 233 P.3d 500, 507 (Ut. App. 2010) *cert. denied*, 238 P.3d 443 (Utah 2010).

Preservation: This issues are preserved through the terms of Settlement, oral arguments during the February 21, 2017 hearing to close out the Estate and the transcript thereof and through hearing transcripts, various Motions, Objections filed on the Probate’s docket filed in the 3rd District Court.

STATEMENT OF CASE

I. Statement of Facts:

Issue No. 1: State and U.S. Constitutional issues of due process, fair and equal rights. The following constitutional provisions, statutes, ordinances, rules and regulations are determinative of the appeal are of central importance and are set forth at Addendum D: The D.Court conditionally approved the Settlement Agreement on September 3, 2013 with final approval on November 14, 2013. The governing statute for compromises for this probate include:

Utah Code Ann. §75-3-1101 – A compromise of any controversy as to admission to probate ... *Is binding on all the parties thereto...*

Utah Code Ann. §75-3-1102(3) – “Upon the making of the order and the execution of the agreement, *all further disposition of the estate is in accordance with the terms of the agreement.*”

Utah Constitution Article I, Section 11 [Courts open – Redress of Injuries.] Rights

All Courts shall be open, and every person, for an injury done to him in his person, property or reputation, shall be barred from prosecuting or defending before any tribunal in this state, by himself or counsel, any civil cause to which he is a party. [Add. D]

U.S. Constitution, Article IV – Due Process and Fair & Equal Rights and Property Rights.

Section 1 – All persons born or naturalized in the United State, and subject to the jurisdiction thereof, are citizens of the United States and of the State wherein they reside. No State shall make or enforce any law which shall abridge the privileges or immunities of citizens of the United State; nor shall any State deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law; nor deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws.

The right to make or enter into a contract is not an economic right, it is a matter of civil or political liberty and comes under the liberty provision of due process clause of the Constitution and not under the property provision since it is not a property right.

McGrew v Industrial Comm’n 96 Utah 203, 85 P. 2d 608 (1938)

Issue No. 2: The distribution of the Cherokee, Woods Cross and the 3 Hi-Country Lots were not distributed to Judy and Kathy Engle in Quiet title, per the terms of Settlement [R.14225 ¶ 1] [Add . H] and pursuant to the April 7, 2017 Order. [R.8421 ¶ 2] [Add. E]

Pursuant to Settlement: “Title will be conveyed to each party in whatever form they prefer. This could be, for example, by having a court order quieting title in the name of one the existing entities ... and then having the court declare that the party is the sole owner of that entity. This would both (1) protect the party from

personal liability and (2) strengthen our position as against any creditors. But each party can decide what they want.”

“For clarity, any property distribution to a Party under the terms of this Agreement will be distributed free and clear of any claims of the Estate or any other Party.”

Pursuant to the D.Court’s Final Order on April 12, 2017 to Close Probate: [R.8421

¶ 2] [Add.E]

Pursuant to Settlement [R.14225 ¶1] “The real properties, as identified in Exhibit A, are transferred to Kathy... Judy... and Wende... respectively, and *each shall have quiet title to the respective real property as provided in the designating deed.*”

These defective Executor, Special Warranty deeds prevented recordation of the Order, which stated each shall have quiet title.

Additional hearings were required to correct these defeats and for distribution of the properties. The August 25, 2017 hearing, the SA signed the ESW deeds.

The County Recorders rejected the Order again, the same problem, No Exhibit A attached to the April 12, 2017 Order and the Homer Engle 2010 Trust, as the Grantor was not listed on the deeds. Also, Wende failed to attach Exhibit A to the Order, to allow recordation of the ESW deeds. And, Wende failed to list the Trust as the Grantor, including Wende, as the trustee. Wende was aware of this requirement, when the Payson Property sold. The sale required Wende to execute the sale, sign off as the trustee of the Trust and the Estate.

There is no excuse, Judy and Kathy's properties could not transfer properly, the same as the Payson Property did, when it was sold to a third party, as Ordered on September 29, 2016. [R.5316-5321] [R.5455-5460]

All property distribution should be the same for the individual quiet orders. The transfers should be all the same which includes "Executory General Warranty Deeds" not just Executory Special Warranty Deeds to Judy and Kathy and for them to share a deed in a quiet title order, when the Settlement state "each" will have quiet title.

Issue No. 3: Properties were not distribute to Judy and Kathy free and clear of any claims of the Estate or any other Party:

Issue No. 3(a). There appears to be an Ambiguity in Settlement regarding the Hi-Country Estates, Phase II claims for HOA fees and their two after death judgments. The following makes clear the statue overrides this ambiguity which does not interfere with a quiet title action or the intent of the parties as it relates to UT Code §75-3-1102(3) and the intent of the parties for the compromise. Regardless of this ambiguity, Hi-Country cannot perfect on any claims for HOA fees or for the enforcement of an erroneous, [R.8388 ¶42] [Add.F] fraudulent judgment which included 3 liens recorded in 2006 on these individual three 20 acre lots.

There has not been any affidavit recorded on these lots to renew its 2006 liens. These liens include delinquent HOA fees in its default judgments which have expired pursuant to the six year statue Utah Code §78B-2-309. Not only did the D.Court rule the

judgments are erroneous but the judgments are erroneous because the HOA 2006 liens are now over 12 year old and have not been renewed pursuant to Utah Code §78B-6-1802 and §78B-6-1803.

There is no record or entry in the County recorders which documents there was any affidavit recorded to renew the 2006 liens or where the two judgments were recorded on the 3 Lots. Also, Pursuant to Utah Code §78B-5-203, after death judgments do not attach to properties as a land lien. Collection on the HOA fees and judgments are only through the administration of the party's Estate.

Pursuant to UT Code §78B-5-203:

If a party dies after a verdict or decision upon any issue of fact, and before judgment, the judgment is not a lien on the real property of the deceased party, but is payable in the course of the administration of the party's estate. [Add. C]

The D.Court ruled the *Estate is insolvent* and no funds are available to pay the HOA judgments:

Pursuant to the Finding of Fact Order, the District Court ruled:

The Hi-Country judgments lien from ... has not been challenged in this case, and ... is not affected by this Court's Order. This Court's Findings, Conclusion & Order are entered without prejudice to any subsequent challenge to that lien, that affected persons may choose to bring in another case. *No funds are available from the Estate, however, to pay the Hi-Country claim and the Hi-Country did not object to the Settlement Agreement* that effectively subordinated payment of the Hi-Country claim. [R.8392 ¶ 6] [Add. F]

The Association did not object to the approval of the Settlement Agreement and agrees it is bound by it. [R.8388 ¶ 39] [Add. F]

The association seeks to keep its judgment liens, although it has not contested the settlement, which did not provide for payment of the judgment entered by Judge Medley on August 26, 2011, in the case of Hi-Country Estate Phase II Homeowners Association v. Homer Engle, Utah 3rd D.Court Case No. 070918271. [R.8388 ¶ 40]

Additionally, Hi-Country did not submit any billings to the Estate for HOA fees. The deadline to file any claims was March 18, 2011, when all claims were filed. Creditor claims were filed March 18, 2011 as shown on the Appeal Court's Index^{*2} [Page.2]. There is no record to support any filing of a HOA claim against the Estate for its HOA fees or judgments. Pursuant to Utah Code §75-3-803, the HOA is forever barred from collecting on its claims for HOA fees and its two default judgments. These judgments were filed August 26, 2011, after the death of the Decedent on November 21, 2010 in another D.Court and were not docketed in the probate of the Decedent but were in the name of Decedent.

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