2017

Kathy Engle, Appellant, v. Wende Throne, Special Administrator and Trustee, Judy Engle, Eldean Roy Engle, Britta Lynn Wilcken, Alexa Thayer, and Bullock Law Firm, Appellees : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

II. KATHY HAS SHOWN NO ABUSE OF DISCRETION IN THE TRIAL COURT’S RULING THAT HER OBJECTION TO ESTATE CLOSING WAS UNTIMELY.

Kathy appears to argue that the trial court “erred” when it ruled her objection to the estate closing was untimely.¹⁵ Br.Aplt. 6, 17, 43. However, Kathy’s brief does not cite to any part of the record where Kathy preserved this

¹⁵ Although Kathy’s brief refers to an objection to settlement, from the context, it appears she referring to the trial court’s ruling on her February 5, 2017 objection to the amended petition to close the estate.

argument, nor does it make even a cursory argument that the trial court exceeded its discretion, let alone plainly erred, in its ruling that her objection was untimely. *See id.* Instead, it simply states that this Court should “[d]irect[] the District Court to rule Kath[y’s] Objection’s to the Closing out of the Estate was timely.” Br.Aplt. at 43. This bald assertion without any citation to supporting authority is not enough to meet Kathy’s burden on appeal. *See, e.g., Hawkins*, 2016 UT App 9, ¶ 47 (“Hawkins fails to support this argument with citations to any legal authority” and therefore “failed to carry his burden of persuasion on appeal”); *Sivulich*, 2015 UT App 101, ¶ 3 (declining to address argument that simply “reargues his position that the Board’s findings were wrong” without pointing to evidence).

In any event, Kathy has not shown an abuse of discretion, let alone obvious, harmful error. Although trial courts may extend time “for good cause” on motion made after time has expired “if the party failed to act because of excusable neglect,” Utah R. Civ. P. 6(b)(1)(B), they also “have broad discretion ‘to manage [their] docket[s] and set firm deadlines for motion practice.’” *Gonzalez*, 2015 UT 10, ¶ 48 (quoting *State v. Bergeson*, 2010 UT App 281, ¶ 7, 241 P.3d 777) (alterations in original). “Recognition of the trial court’s prerogative to manage its docket serves a number of beneficial interests, including promoting judicial efficiency and economy, creating a predictable system of advocacy, fostering finality in convictions, and reducing litigation expenses.” *Id.*

As stated, Kathy filed her objection to Wende’s petition to close the estate on February 1, 2017—two days after the January 30, 2017 *stipulated* deadline. R5873, R6365, R7393, R8384. The record does not reflect that Kathy requested an extension before or after the filing deadline. *See generally* Record Index. Kathy’s brief does not make even a cursory argument that the trial court abused its discretion, let alone plainly erred, when it ruled, “Kathy’s Objection was filed on February 1, 2017, two days after the deadline established by the Amended Scheduling Order and, therefore, is untimely.” R8384. *See, e.g., Stoddard v. Smith*, 2001 UT 47, ¶ 25, 27 P.3d 546 (trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying plaintiff’s motion to extend time to file a motion for substitution of parties where plaintiff failed to show excusable neglect); *Williams v. Dep’t of Corr.*, 2016 UT App 156, ¶ 28, 380 P.3d 340 (trial court did not abuse its discretion in ruling inmate’s filing was untimely where trial court noted inmate had “managed to timely file documents ... over the course of this litigation”); *Hatch v. Kuhn (In re Estate of Kuhn)*, 2008 UT App 400U, *2 (trial court did not exceed its discretion in striking untimely opposition to motion for summary judgment where appellant “made no showing of excusable neglect”). Instead, Kathy cites Rule 6(c), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, as the basis for her argument. But that rule, which allows three extra days for parties to respond to papers served on them by mail, is inapplicable where the deadline was set by a stipulated court order, not the date of the service on Kathy (who was served by email, not mail). *See* R6076; Utah R. Civ. P. 6(c).

Thus, because Kathy’s brief has not made even a cursory argument as to why the exceeded its broad discretion, let alone plainly erred, in ruling her objection was untimely, Kathy has not met her burden of persuasion. *See Roberts*, 2015 UT 24, ¶11; Utah R. App. P. 24(i).

III. This Court should decline to consider Kathy’s various other arguments because they are unpreserved.

Kathy does not cite any specific part of the record where she preserved any argument, but throughout her brief states that she raised her arguments in the untimely objection. *See, e.g.*, Br.Aplt. 9, 39. Because Kathy’s objection was not timely filed, it did not preserve any argument that Kathy now raises on appeal. Because Kathy also does not argue plain error or exceptional circumstances exist, this Court should decline to consider any of her arguments.

“As a general rule, claims not raised before the trial court may not be raised on appeal.” *State v. Holgate*, 2000 UT 74, ¶ 11, 10 P.3d 346. “[T]he preservation rule applies to every claim, including constitutional questions, unless [an appellant] can demonstrate that ‘exceptional circumstances’ exist or ‘plain error’ occurred.”¹⁶ *Id.* (citations omitted); *accord Andersen v. Andersen*, 2015 UT App 260, ¶ 4, 361 P.3d 698 (“An appellant is required to include a citation to the record showing that each issue was preserved in the district court.”); *State v. Coco*, 2008 UT App 128U (quoting *Salt Lake County v.*

¹⁶ Plain error requires showing obvious, harmful error, i.e. that the trial court’s ruling is contrary to well-settled case law and that absent the error there is a reasonable likelihood of a more favorable outcome for the appellant. *See, e.g.*, *State v. Litherland*, 2000 UT 76, ¶ 31, 12 P.3d 92.

Carlston, 776 P.2d 653, 655 (Utah App. 1989) (“It is axiomatic that, before a party may advance an issue on appeal, the record must clearly show that it was timely presented to the trial court in a manner sufficient to obtain a ruling thereon.”).

In order to preserve an issue for appeal, an appellant must make a timely objection that provides the trial court with an adequate opportunity to correct any claimed errors. “An issue is preserved for appeal when it has been presented to the district court in such a way that the court has an opportunity to rule on that issue.” *Wolferts v. Wolferts*, 2013 UT App 235, ¶ 19, 315 P.3d 448; accord *438 Main St. v. Easy Heat, Inc.*, 2004 UT 72, ¶ 51, 99 P.3d 801 (same). “To provide the court with this opportunity, the issue must be specifically raised [by the party asserting error], in a timely manner, and must be supported by evidence and relevant legal authority.” *Wolferts*, 2013 UT App 235, ¶ 19 (alteration in original) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted); accord *Pratt v. Nelson*, 2007 UT 41, ¶ 15, 164 P.3d 366 (same); *State v. Richins*, 2004 UT App 36, ¶ 8, 86 P.3d 759 (same).

The timeliness requirement is “a pre-condition to appellate review because entertaining belatedly raised issues sanction[s] the practice of withholding positions that should properly be presented to the trial court but which may be withheld for the purpose of seeking a reversal on appeal.” *State v. Johnson*, 2013 UT App 276, ¶ 8, 316 P.3d 994 (quoting *State v. Brown*, 856 P.2d 358, 361-62 (Utah App. 1993)) (alteration in original); accord *Hart v. Salt Lake*

Cty. Comm'n, 945 P.2d 125, 130 (Utah Ct. App. 1997) (explaining the timeliness requirement affords the trial court “an opportunity to rule on the issue’s merits”).

In addition, preservation requires the appellant to “state clearly and specifically all grounds for objection.” *State v. Larsen*, 865 P.2d 1355, 1363 n.12 (Utah 1993). Thus, even timely objections will not preserve an issue for appeal if they lack specificity and do not “introduce supporting evidence or relevant legal authority.” *438 Main St.*, 2004 UT 72, ¶ 51. Merely presenting evidence at trial that could potentially support a claim of error is not sufficient to preserve it for appeal. Rather, an appellant must make a specific and timely objection to the trial court. *See State v. Pinder*, 2005 UT 15, ¶ 45, 114 P.3d 551.

This Court should decline to address any of the issues raised in Kathy’s brief because the objection that she cites to as preserving them was untimely, and she does not argue that any exception to the preservation rule should apply. *See Holgate*, 2000 UT 74, ¶ 11.

IV. KATHY’S UNSUBSTANTIATED ALLEGATIONS AGAINST WENDE ARE NOT CREDIBLE

Kathy appears to argue that Wendé breached her duties as special administrator by 1) not properly protecting estate property, primarily the State Street property (Br. Aplt. at 7, 17-18, 41); 2) using “improper accounting methods” (Br. Aplt. at 7, 42-43); and 3) not distributing the real properties pursuant to the estate closing order (Br. Aplt. at 4, 18, 41-42).

These arguments ignore that the trial court has consistently found the parties' allegations against Wende to lack credibility. In its April 6, 2017 findings of fact and conclusions of law, the trial court specifically found and concluded that:

- All parties to the settlement agreement “have released all claims against each other arising on or before September 3, 2013.”
- All claims of wrongdoing against Wende arising on or before October 3, 2016 “have already been litigated, found to lack credibility, and denied by the Court.”
- Wende “has provided a complete accounting of the Estate financial transactions that have occurred from January 2013 to the present.”
- Kathy, Judy and Roy, were allowed to submit questions to Wende about the accounting, and Wende answered their questions.
- As with Judy's and Roy's allegations, “Kathy's current allegations of wrongdoing lack credibility” and “are untimely.”

R8384-8385. Kathy's brief entirely fails to acknowledge those findings by the trial court. As a result, this Court should decline to consider any of the allegations against Wende. *See iDrive Logistics LLC v. IntegraCore LLC*, 2018 UT App 40, ¶ 79, 424 P.3d 970 (“Where an appellant fails to address the basis of the district court's ruling, we reject the challenge.”); *accord Cattani v. Drake*, 2018 UT App 77, ¶ 52, 424 P.3d 1131 (declining to consider appellants arguments that were “silent as to the district court's conclusion”); *Golden Meadows Props., LC v. Strand*, 2010 UT App 257, ¶ 17, 241 P.3d 375 (appellant who “fails to attack the district court's” ruling “cannot demonstrate that the district court erred”).

As will be shown, Kathy's failure to acknowledge the trial court's findings and the evidence supporting them is fatal to her attempt to show the trial court exceeded its broad discretion, let alone plainly erred in its ruling that her old and new allegations all lacked credibility or had been waived.

A. Kathy has not shown that the trial court plainly erred in ruling her allegations against Wende lack credibility.

Kathy's brief is peppered with various unsupported allegations of wrongdoing against Wende related to her Estate accounting and managing of Estate properties. *See* Br.Aplt. at 7, 17-18, 41-43. Specifically, Kathy alleges that Wende did not provide a proper accounting of all estate assets "from the time of death" and should be required to do so and that she mismanaged the State Street property. Br.Aplt. 42-43.

As stated, this Court should "reject the challenge" because Kathy fails to acknowledge that the trial court has found her allegations to lack credibility and has also ruled that she waived all claims that arose before September 2013 by entering into the settlement agreement. *See iDrive Logistics LLC v. IntegraCore LLC*, 2018 UT App 40, ¶ 79, 424 P.3d 970. Kathy has also failed to provide a complete record of Kathy's brief ignores the ample record evidence that supports the trial court's findings that the allegations against Wende lack credibility. She did not include a transcript of the October 3, 2016 hearing at which parties presented evidence related to those claims. She included only a partial transcript of the February 24, 2016 hearing and of the February 21, 2017 hearing. This

“absence of a transcript of a crucial proceeding,” means that the Court should “presume that [the] trial court’s decision is reasonable, supported by the evidence, and did not constitute an abuse of discretion.” *See Gines v. Edwards*, 2017 UT App 47, ¶ 21, 397 P.3d 612; *accord State v. Pritchett*, 2003 UT 24, ¶ 13, 69 P.3d 1278 (same). Finally, Kathy failed to appeal from the trial court’s ruling that it would not alter its finding that the allegations against Wende lack credibility, in part because the “long, repeated, venomous, angry, frustrated attacks, repeated attacks on the special administrator.... just haven't stood up to the analysis of the facts.” R17525.

In any event, Kathy cannot show an abuse of discretion, let alone plain error because she ignores the evidence supporting the trial court’s finding that the allegations lack credibility. “When reviewing a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence, [the Court] will not set aside a trial court's factual findings ‘unless clearly erroneous,’ giving ‘due regard to the trial court’s opportunity to judge the credibility of the witnesses.’” *Shuman*, 2017 UT App 192, ¶3 (quoting Utah R. Civ. P. 52(a)(4)). Kathy’s failure to marshal the evidence supporting the trial court’s findings “greatly undermine[s]” the persuasiveness of her argument on appeal. *Cf. State v. Nielsen*, 2014 UT 10, ¶44, 326 P.3d 645 (sufficiency of evidence challenge).

1. Kathy’s accounting allegations lack credibility.

Kathy’s unpreserved arguments related to Wende’s accounting ignore the evidence supporting the trial court’s finding that her accounting was complete.

For example, while Kathy cites to her own objection to the accounting, she ignores that Wende has provided multiple accountings, that she was able to ask questions about those accountings, and that Wende answered those questions. R2967-971; R3347-50; R3749; R4162; R6066-173. It further ignores that the trial court heard evidence on Judy's motion to remove Wende, which included allegations related to accounting, and rejected it. R5494-503; R5613-15. Finally, ignoring the trial court's ruling that Wende provided "Kathy vaguely asserts that Wende did not comply with GAAP and therefore a special master should be appointed, but she does not point to any specific part of the accounting that is incomplete or inaccurate, or cite any authority to support her assertion. Br.Aplt. 39-40, 42-43. Moreover, Kathy ignores that the Court specifically found that Wende "provided a complete accounting" and approved it as to form and content. R8385, 391.

She therefore cannot meet her burden of persuasion to show that the trial court abused its discretion, let alone plainly erred, in approving Wende's accounting rather than *sua sponte* appointing a special master. *See, e.g., Dahl*, 2015 UT 23, ¶ 67 (appellant has "burden of directing [the Court's] attention to specific facts in the record to support her contention that the district court abused its discretion"); *Hawkins*, 2016 UT App 9, ¶ 47 (appellant who did not support argument with analysis of legal authority "failed to carry his burden of persuasion on appeal").

2. Kathy's property management allegations lack credibility.

Kathy further asserts that Wende breached her duties by taking out a loan rather than using rental proceeds to pay property taxes, primarily on the State Street property. Br.Aplt. 18-19. Kathy's argument ignores that the trial court on more than one occasion ordered Kathy, Judy and Roy to not interfere with her estate administration. *See, e.g.*, R13508-509; R30-31; R10825-826. It also ignores the trial court's specific ruling that such a loan was needed because there were no funds available to pay the taxes. R10825-826. It ignores that the parties' settlement agreement [REDACTED], and that the court ordered that a loan be taken out to save the State Street property. R14223, R10833. Kathy's brief further ignores that Wende was willing to use \$10,000.00 of her own personal funds to avoid foreclosure if needed. R10833. Finally, Kathy ignores that the trial court specifically rejected an allegation that not paying a loan was a breach of duty because Wende had been negotiating with the original lender for an extended period of time, and because the Estate did not have the funds available "to just write a check to pay off" that lender. R10825-826.

Thus, Kathy has not demonstrated that the trial court's findings are against the clear weight of the evidence, let alone that the trial court plainly erred in its rulings. *See, e.g., Dahl*, 2015 UT 23, ¶ 67; *Hawkins*, 2016 UT App 9, ¶ 47.

As a result of the foregoing, Kathy's arguments do not comport with rule 24, Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, and she cannot meet her burden of persuasion on appeal to show that the trial court's finding that her allegations

against Wende lack credibility, let alone that the trial court's finding was plain error. *See, e.g., Roberts* 2015 UT 24, ¶ 18.

B. The settlement resolved all claims among the parties that arose before September 3, 2013.

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